of King's College, Cambridge. In the basement are seminar rooms, a clubroom, lockers, and library stackrooms. On the first floor are two large classrooms and a courtroom. The mezzanine floor is occupied by the library stackroom containing stacks for 100,000 volumes. Opening into the stackroom are the offices of the Faculty. On the third floor is the Law Library reading-room, a great hall one hundred and eighty feet long and fifty feet wide, with timbered roof and clerestory windows on all sides. It has wall shelves for 15,000 volumes and tables for 350 readers. A bridge affords a direct connection between the reading-rooms of the library of the Law School and the Harper Memorial Library.

On the walls of the building are hung the Charles B. Pike Collection of engravings and engravings of English and American judges and lawyers, and also portraits of various members of the Faculty and benefactors of the School.

The Law Library, containing approximately 118,000 volumes, has substantially all the reported decisions of the courts of the United States and of England, Scotland, Ireland, Canada, Australia, and the other parts of the British Empire, together with the statutes and session laws, textbooks, periodicals, digests, encyclopedias, and sets of classified and annotated reports of these jurisdictions. The Library has an extensive collection of the original briefs and records of cases in the Supreme Court of the United States. It also has a representative collection of the reports and opinions of various state and federal administrative agencies and the proceedings of various bar associations. The Library has an important collection of materials dealing with Greek and Roman law and the law of Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, Holland, Italy, Mexico, Spain, and Switzerland. In addition, the students of the School have ready access to the Harper Memorial Library, which contains approximately 1,750,000 volumes, and to the libraries of the Public Administration Clearing House and of the Rosenwald Museum of Science and Industry.

The Law Library has three special funds at its disposal to supplement general library appropriations. These are the James Nelson Raymond Memorial Fund, established in 1929 by Anna L. Raymond as a memorial to her husband, James Nelson Raymond, an eminent businessman of Chicago; the Wallace Heckman Memorial Fund, established in 1929 by Mrs. Wallace Heckman as a memorial to her husband, Wallace Heckman, business manager of the University from 1903 to 1924; and the William B. Hale Fund, established in 1944 by the family of Mr. Hale to further the study of monopoly.

IX. PROFESSORSHIPS AND TEACHING FELLOWSHIPS

The John P. Wilson Professorship in Law was established in 1929 with funds contributed for the John P. Wilson Memorial Foundation by John P. Wilson, Jr., and Anna Wilson Dickinson as a memorial to their father, John P. Wilson, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago Bar.

The James Parker Hall Professorship in Law was established in 1930 by the alumni of the School in memory of James Parker Hall, dean of the School from 1904 until his death in 1928.
The Max Pam Professorship of Comparative Law was established in 1935 in memory of Max Pam, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago Bar, with funds allocated by the Trustees under the will of Mr. Pam.

The Harry A. Bigelow Teaching Fellowships were established in 1947 in honor of Harry A. Bigelow, John P. Wilson Professor Emeritus of Law and Dean Emeritus of the Law School. During 1947 contributions toward these teaching fellowships were made by members of the Law School classes of 1906, 1911, 1916, 1921, 1926, 1931, 1936, and 1941.

X. STUDENT AID

SCHOLARSHIPS

A number of scholarships are awarded to students of outstanding ability who need financial assistance. Some of these scholarships are for full tuition, some for half tuition, and some in amounts in excess of the tuition charge. In the case of veterans, scholarship awards may be made as cash grants to supplement government living allowances. Application for scholarships should be made upon a form obtained from the office of the Dean of the Law School (except in cases specified below).

The James Nelson Raymond Scholarships were established in 1930 from a fund given by Anna Louise Raymond in memory of her husband, James Nelson Raymond. The income of the fund is at present used to provide scholarships of $600 each. In 1946-47 James Nelson Raymond Scholarships were awarded to the following: Russell R. Kletzing, A.B., University of California, and William G. Leary, A.B., M.A., University of California.

The Leo F. Wormser Scholarships were established in 1935 by friends of Leo F. Wormser, J.D. 1909, as a memorial to him. In 1940 an additional gift to this scholarship fund was made by Mrs. Leo F. Wormser in memory of Mr. Wormser's mother, Mrs. Frida Wormser. Scholarships paying full tuition are awarded from this fund. In 1946-47 Leo F. Wormser Scholarships were awarded to Ernest Greenberger, A.B., Central Y.M.C.A. College; Jack F. Rowles, A.B., Doane College; and Paul D. Tillett, Jr., A.B., Wesleyan University of Connecticut.

University Scholarships are awarded from a fund annually allotted to the School by the Trustees of the University. These scholarships may be for either full or half tuition.

One of the James Nelson Raymond Scholarships and a number of University Scholarships for full tuition are usually awarded to entering students. Holders of these scholarships who make outstanding records in the Law School receive renewals of their scholarships or equivalent awards. In addition to these scholarships, approximately one-fourth of the University Scholarships for half tuition are usually awarded to entering students.

Applications for the following scholarships are to be made to the University Committee on Fellowships and Scholarships, Cobb Lecture Hall, Room 108, during the period from January 1 to April 1 for the year following:
Junior-College Entrance Scholarships. Entrance scholarships are awarded annually to graduates of junior colleges and to students with equivalent college standing, upon the academic record of the student, upon the recommendation of the faculty of the college which he has attended, and upon performance in an aptitude test given by the University.

The LaVerne Noyes Foundation Scholarships are awarded to veterans of World War I (1917-19) and their descendants. Further information may be secured from the Committee on Fellowships and Scholarships (Cobb Hall, Room 108).

Marshall Field & Company Work-Scholarships. Not more than twenty full-tuition scholarships are available annually to students in the College, the Divisions, and the Professional Schools of the University who are employed by Marshall Field & Company under the study-employment plan. Remuneration for service is made in addition to the scholarship grant. Any student eighteen years of age or older is eligible to apply. Application may be made to the Committee on Scholarships.

LOANS

Several loan funds are available to law students. Loans are usually granted only to students who have completed at least one year of residence in the School.

The Ernst Freund Loan Fund was established in 1922 by the late Professor Ernst Freund, and since his death has been augmented by other contributions.

The James Parker Hall Loan Fund was established by the alumni of the Law School in memory of the late Dean Hall.

The Floyd R. Mechem Loan Fund for Law Students was established in 1921 by the late Professor Floyd R. Mechem.

The Anna Louise Raymond Loan Fund was established by Anna Louise Raymond in 1932 for the benefit of students in the Law School, preference to be given to women students.

The Harry A. Bigelow Loan Fund was established in 1939 by the Law Class of 1929 in honor of Dean Bigelow.

The Julius Rosenthal Fund was established in 1903 in memory of Julius Rosenthal, by the late Judge Julian W. Mack, formerly a professor in the School.

The Clark B. Whittier Law Loan Fund was established by Professor Clark B. Whittier in recognition of his previous connection with the University of Chicago Law School as a member of its Faculty.

University Tuition Loan Funds. The University has established a loan fund from which loans may be made to students in need of financial assistance. The loans bear interest at 5 per cent, are for not over one year, but may on proper showing be extended.

A form of application for a loan may be obtained on request from the office of the Dean of the Law School.

OPPORTUNITIES FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYMENT

The facilities of the Office of Vocational Guidance and Placement are available for students of the Law School who desire part-time employment. For detailed information concerning the opportunities for such employment, applications should be made to the Office of Vocational Guidance and Placement, Room 215, Cobb Lecture Hall.
XI. GRADUATE FELLOWSHIPS AND RESEARCH FUNDS

The Law School has available a number of fellowships for graduate students. *Encyclopaedia Britannica, Inc., Fellowships* (one or more) are assigned to students with considerable competence in the field of law. Britannica fellows engage in critical reading of the *Encyclopaedia*’s present articles in their special fields and recommend revisions and revisers. They may expect sufficient free time to take two courses quarterly, for which they pay tuition on a pro-rata basis. Annual stipends range from $1,000 to $2,000. Application may be made at any time to the Committee on Fellowships and Scholarships, The University of Chicago.

*The James Nelson Raymond Fellowship* was created in 1933 and 1934 by Anna Louise Raymond in memory of her husband, James Nelson Raymond. The annual income is awarded to a research student in law whose record gives evidence of a capacity for distinguished work in legal research.

*University Fellowships.* A limited number of fellowships are reserved for research students in law.

*The Frieda and Arnold Shure Research Fund* was established in 1945 by Frieda and Arnold Shure. The income is to be used for legal studies of importance for the public welfare.

XII. STUDENT ACTIVITIES AND HONORS

*The University of Chicago Law Review,* founded in 1933, is published by the School under the management of a Board of Editors composed of students. Members of the second-year classes who rank highest in scholarship are invited to become competitors for election to the staff of the *Review.* From this group the Board of Editors chooses the editorial staff of the *Review.*

The Editors-in-Chief for 1946–47 were John Paul Good (1946), A.B., Amherst College, and Stuart Bernstein (1947), A.B., University of Chicago. Editors included Ernest Greenberger, A.B., Central Y.M.C.A. College; Donald M. Hawkins, A.B., University of Chicago; John D. Lawyer, A.B., Pomona College; Donald A. Petrie, A.B., University of Chicago; Herbert E. Ruben, A.B., University of Chicago; and Charles D. Stein, A.B., University of Chicago. The Business Manager was Robert L. James, A.B., University of Chicago.

The Chicago Chapter of the Order of the Coif is an honor society founded to encourage scholarship and to advance the ethical standards of the legal profession. Its members are selected each spring from the 10 per cent of the graduating class who rank highest in scholarship. In 1946 Richard F. Babcock, A.B., Dartmouth College, was elected to membership. In 1947 the elected members were Stuart Bernstein; Marshall Forrest, B.S.L., Northwestern University; John Paul Good; Ernest Greenberger; and Donald M. Hawkins.

XIII. FEES AND OTHER INFORMATION

FEES AND EXPENSES

1. **Application fee.** An application fee of $5.00 must accompany the original application for admission to the University. No part of the fee is refundable nor is it applicable as an advance payment on other fees.